FILED

SID J. WHITE

NOV 15 1984

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By _____
Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT
STATE OF FLORIDA

THOMAS WAYNE HOUSER,
Petitioner,

vs.

CASE NO: 66,074

STATE OF FLORIDA,
Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS
ON BEHALF OF PETITIONER

OFFICE OF THE PUBLIC DEFENDER
SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
POST OFFICE BOX 671
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32302
(904) 488-2458

TERRY P. LEWIS
SPECIAL ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
POST OFFICE BOX 10508
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32302
(904) 222-2216

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Petitioner, THOMAS WAYNE HOUSER, was the Defendant in the trial court below and the Appellant in the District Court of Appeals. He will be referred to in this Brief as the Defendant. The Respondent was the State in the trial court and the Appellee in the District Court of Appeal. The Respondent will be referred to as the State in this Brief.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The District Court of Appeal affirmed the conviction and sentence of the Defendant on charges of DWI manslaughter and vehicular homicide. Pertinent facts were summarized by the District Court of Appeal in its Opinion as follows:

"Appellant was the driver of a motor vehicle which struck a concrete wall, killing a passenger in the vehicle. Chemical analysis of appellant's blood indicated a blood alcohol level of 0.18%, and appellant was charged with both DWI manslaughter and vehicular homicide.

Prior to trial, appellant sought to compel production of the blood sample for defense analysis, and the discovery was then made that the blood had not been continuously refrigerated after the initial analysis. Expert testimony established that a prolonged lack of refrigeration could diminish the blood alcohol content and thus impact the validity of any subsequent analysis. Appellant moved to suppress evidence relating to his blood alcohol content, asserting that the introduction of such evidence would violate his rights of confrontation and due process. The trial court denied the motion to suppress, and permitted evidence as to appellant's blood alcohol content."

The District Court of Appeal certified as issues of great public importance the following questions:

"WHETHER EVIDENCE DERIVED FROM CHEMICAL ANALYSIS FOR BLOOD ALCOHOL CONTENT MAY BE ADMISSIBLE IF THE STATE DOES NOT PRESERVE A BLOOD SAMPLE SUSCEPTIBLE OF FURTHER ANALYSIS BY THE DEFENSE;

WHETHER A DEFENDANT MAY BE SENTENCED FOR BOTH DWI MANSLAUGHTER AND VEHICULAR HOMICIDE FOR EFFECTING A SINGLE DEATH;

WHETHER EVIDENCE OF BLOOD ALCOHOL CONTENT ESTABLISHED BY CHEMICAL ANALYSIS PRIOR TO THE ADOPTION OF HRS RULES RELATING THERETO MAY BE ALLOWED INTO EVIDENCE AT A TRIAL SUBSEQUENT TO THE ADOPTION OF SUCH RULES."

The Court also certified that its decision was in direct conflict

with Vela v. State, 9 FLW 1135 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984).

The Defendant timely filed his Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction based upon the certification of the District Court of Appeal of issues of great public importance and of direct conflict with the decision of another District Court of Appeal.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

WHETHER EVIDENCE OF BLOOD ALCOHOL CONTENT ESTABLISHED BY CHEMICAL ANALYSIS PRIOR TO THE ADOPTION OF HRS RULES RELATING THERETO MAY BE ALLOWED INTO EVIDENCE AT A TRIAL SUBSEQUENT TO THE ADOPTION OF SUCH RULES.

This issue was addressed by the First District Court of Appeal in Drury v. Harding, 443 So.2d 360 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983), holding that these HRS rules are procedural in nature and may be applied to chemical tests administered prior to their adoption. The First District Court of Appeal noted that the Fifth District Court of Appeal had reached a similar result in State v. Fardelman, 9 FLW 1760 (Fla. 5th DCA August 9, 1984). Drury v. Harding, supra, is now pending before this Court on certified question, Case No: 64,724. A copy of the decision in Drury v. Harding is attached hereto in the Appendix to this Brief.

In the present case, the Defendant had sought to exclude from evidence at his trial, by Motion to Suppress and by a Motion in Limine, the results of a blood alcohol test administered on the Defendant on December 12, 1982. The essence of the Defendant's argument was and is as follows:

1) Section 316.1932(2)(a) Florida Statutes, as amended effective July 1, 1983, required the Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services to promulgate rules for the administration of blood alcohol tests,

2) The results of such tests performed after July 1, 1982 were admissible in evidence only if the tests were

administered in accordance with rules in effect at the time of the test, and

3) Since there were no rules adopted by HRS until December 16, 1983, the results of blood alcohol tests taken after July 1, 1982 but before December 16, 1982, including the Defendant's test results, are thus inadmissible.

The District Court of Appeal accepted the State's argument that the HRS rules, being procedural in nature, were in effect and properly applied to the Defendant at the time of the Defendant's trial.

In order to properly understand this issue, it is necessary to examine the history of legislation concerning the administration of blood alcohol tests.

Prior to 1967, there were no statutes on the subject. The Florida courts were guided solely by rules of evidence and constitutional consideration. Results of blood alcohol tests were admissible provided a proper predicate was laid showing (1) the test was reliable, (2) it was performed by a qualified operator with proper equipment, and (3) expert testimony was presented as to the meaning of the test results. State v. Bender, 382 So.2d 697, 699 (Fla. 1980).

In 1967, the Florida Legislature enacted laws pertaining to the use of chemical testing in "DUI" cases, i.e. Section 316.193, 322.261 and 322.262, Florida Statutes. These statutes as subsequently amended through 1977, were commonly referred to as the "DUI-Implied Consent Law", and provided in part that

results of blood alcohol tests could be introduced into evidence against one charged with DUI so long as the test was performed in strict compliance with rules and regulations adopted by the Department of Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles (Section 322.261 (2)(a), 327.01(11) F.S.) and by the Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services (Section 322.262, F.S.).

Specifically, D.H.S.M.V. was charged with "specify(ing) ... the test or tests which (are) approved by (this) department for reliability of result and facility of administration "and provide(ing) an approved method of administration". Section 322.261(2)(a) F.S. H.R.S., on the other hand, was delegated authority to: (1) approve the particular techniques or methods used, (2) qualify the individuals to conduct such an analysis, and (3) issue permits to such individuals with the authority to revoke. Section 322.262(3), Florida Statutes.

The two departments thus shared the responsibility and authority for implementation of blood alcohol tests. Both departments adopted rules after public hearings. Florida Administrative Code Chapters 15B-3 (D.H.S.M.V.) and 10D-42 (H.R.S.) The rules of both departments were important in the statutory scheme.¹

¹Rule 10D-42.21(H.R.S.) reads: "This regulation supplements and must be read in conjunction with CH 15B-3 Fla. Administrative Code, regulations of the Department of Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles" (emphasis added).

It is also clear that failure to strictly comply with these rules would render any test results inadmissible in evidence in a criminal trial. State v. Bender, supra,; Campbell v. State, 423 So.2d 488 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982).

The DUI law was substantially revised by the Florida legislature in 1982. One of the most significant changes was to eliminate the bifurcated administrative authority between H.R.S. and D.H.S.M.V. Effective July 1, 1982, H.R.S. was given total responsibility and authority over the administration of blood alcohol tests. Section 322.211, F.S. was renumbered as Section 316.1932, and amended to read:

"(2)(a) The tests determining the weight of alcohol in the Defendant's blood shall be administered at the direction of the arresting officer substantially in accordance with rules and regulations which shall be adopted by the Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services. Such rules and regulations shall be adopted after public hearing, and shall specify precisely the test or tests which are approved by said Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services for reliability of result and facility of administration and shall provide an approved method of administration which shall be followed in all such tests given under this Section." (emphasis added)

The Defendant does not dispute the State's argument that the revisions in the DUI law were intended to "get tough" on drunk drivers. There are increased penalties, the admissibility into evidence of the refusal to take a chemical test, and call for "substantial" as opposed to "strict" compliance with testing rules. Section 316.193, 316.1932, 316.19321(f)(1), Florida Statutes. However, it is also clear that these objectives were to be obtained only after H.R.S. adopted the appropriate

rules, after public hearing, to implement the provisions of the statute.

This Court is bound to give effect to the clear words used in legislation. Holmes v. Blazer Financial Services, Inc., 369 So.2d 987 (Fla. 4th DCA 1979); Schulzy v. State, 361 So.2d 416 (Fla. 1982). The plain meaning of the words used in the revised statute i.e. "rules ... which shall have been adopted..." and "shall be adopted after public hearing" clearly mandate future rule adoption.² It was necessary to have such rules adopted so that tests administered after July 1, 1982 could be done in "substantial" compliance therewith. Common sense and logic also compel this conclusion even without this wording since H.R.S. would have to adopt new rules in order to accept and replace the authority formally delegated to D.H.S.M.V.

Also, the adoption of emergency rules by H.R.S. December 16, 1982, is an admission of this requirement. In order to file emergency rules, the Administrative Procedure Act requires the agency to file a Statement of Emergency, Section 120.54(9)(a), Florida Statutes. H.R.S. did file such statement as follows:

²Black's Law Dictionary (4th Ed.Rev. 1968) defines "shall" on page 1542:

"although the word usually denotes an obligation, it also implies an element of futurity. (emphasis added).

"Rule adoption is necessary to insure that alcohol detection machines and personnel are properly inspected and approved. This rule is also required to insure that drunken drivers are properly identified and where necessary prosecuted and removed from Florida Highways ...".

Fla. Administrative Weekly, Vol. 8 #51, December 23, 1982 (emphasis added).

Certainly H.R.S. would not have filed these emergency rules if the purpose stated above could have been met by already existing rules. Likewise, had the Legislature intended a different result, such a provision could have been inserted in the revised statute. For example, the statute could have provided for substantial compliance with such rules as presently adopted by H.R.S. as may be amended from time to time.

The "gap" in the rules which necessarily occurs here is not a strained construction of the statute. Rather, it is the result of the failure of H.R.S., for whatever reason, to follow up on the legislative directive to adopt appropriate rules.

The H.R.S. rules are not rules of procedure. They are regulations concerning how a test is to be conducted on the date it is conducted. The District Court of Appeal in Drury stated that:

"The rules were designed to permit the introduction of test results into evidence without the requirement of expert testimony to lay a predicate for the test's reliability. State v. Bender, supra. Because the purpose of the rules is to insure that only reliable evidence is placed before a jury, the law in effect at the time of the trial is the law that governs the admissibility of the evidence."

(Drury Opinion, page 3).

However, the purpose of the rules is not only to insure the reliability of scientific evidence for future use in court proceedings, but also to "protect the health of those persons being tested." State v. Bender, supra. After all, if the State has, by law, required a driver to submit to a chemical test, appropriate precautions should be made to protect such a driver from any dangers incident thereto.

Just as important, however, the language of the statute requires that the test be administered in accordance with rules which "shall have been" adopted by H.R.S., indicating that the rule precedes the administration of the test.

Furthermore, it is clear that administrative rules cannot be retroactively applied. Sexton Cove Estates, Inc. v. State Pollution Control Board, 325 So.2d 468 (Fla. 1st DCA 1976); Gulfstream Park Racing Assn., Inc. v. Division of PariMutual Wagering, 407 So.2d 263 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1981); York v. State, 10 So.2d 813 (Fla. 1943).

As the court stated in York, supra:

"Administrative regulations are binding on those affected by them only when promulgated in due course. They will not be permitted to be used in an ex post facto manner..."

(10 So.2d at 815).

York involved the application of rules governing the admission of an applicant to the practice of dentistry.

However, the purpose of the rules is not only to insure the reliability of scientific evidence for future use in court proceedings, but also to "protect the health of those persons being tested." State v. Bender, supra. After all, if the State has, by law, required a driver to submit to a chemical test, appropriate precautions should be made to protect such a driver from any dangers incident thereto.

Just as important, however, the language of the statute requires that the test be administered in accordance with rules which "shall have been" adopted by H.R.S., indicating that the rule precedes the administration of the test.

Furthermore, it is clear that administrative rules cannot be retroactively applied. Sexton Cove Estates, Inc. v. State Pollution Control Board, 325 So.2d 468 (Fla. 1st DCA 1976); Gulfstream Park Racing Assn., Inc. v. Division of PariMutual Wagering, 407 So.2d 263 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1981); York v. State, 10 So.2d 813 (Fla. 1943).

As the court stated in York, supra:

"Administrative regulations are binding on those affected by them only when promulgated in due course. They will not be permitted to be used in an ex post facto manner..."

(10 So.2d at 815).

York involved the application of rules governing the admission of an applicant to the practice of dentistry.

In summary, the only reasonable interpretation and construction of the appropriate statute is that H.R.S. was to adopt rules which were to govern and direct the proper administration of all blood alcohol tests done after July 1, 1982. Failure of H.R.S. to follow this mandate and timely adopt rules has necessarily resulted in a hiatus during which blood tests taken were not in compliance with the statute and the results thereof are not admissible in criminal trials.

ISSUE II

WHETHER EVIDENCE DERIVED FROM CHEMICAL ANALYSIS FOR BLOOD ALCOHOL CONTENT MAY BE ADMISSIBLE IF THE STATE DOES NOT PRESERVE A BLOOD SAMPLE SUSCEPTIBLE OF FURTHER ANALYSIS BY THE DEFENSE.

The District Court of Appeal correctly pointed out that in cases involving the destruction of evidence, a balancing test has been applied by this Court to determine what sanctions, if any, should be applied against the State. The destruction of evidence can be intentional or unintentional. Demps v. State, 395 So.2d 501 (Fla. 1981); State v. Sobel, 363 So.2d 324 (Fla. 1978); Salvatore v. State, 366 So.2d 745 (Fla. 1978). In a similar vein, the District Court of Appeal stated that "the exculpatory value of the evidence must be viewed in the context of the entire record," the District Court of Appeal citing to California v. Trombetta, 52 U.S.L.W. 4744 (U.S. June 11, 1984); U.S. v. Agurs, 427 U.S. 97 (1976). This is in accord with this Court's rulings in Sobel and Salvatore, supra, that there must be some determination of the relative seriousness of the action by the State and the relative prejudice to the defendant resulting therefrom.

The District Court of Appeal concluded in this case that since it was the chemical analysis of the blood sample, rather than the sample itself, which was of primary importance to the Defendant and since the State's blood analysis expert was available for cross examination and the Defendant presented no evidence which would undermine the accuracy of the expert's

methods and procedures or otherwise make an independent analysis indispensable to a fair defense, the State's action in failing to properly preserve the blood sample was not so prejudicial as to warrant suppression of the evidence derived from the chemical analysis of the Defendant's blood sample.

It should be noted at this point that the State's own expert witness confirmed that failure to refrigerate the blood samples would destroy the reliability of tests performed later on the blood samples. (R 595-562). The failure to properly maintain the blood sample, then, was tantamount to a destruction of the evidence because its evidentiary value was zero since it was not refrigerated.

The Defendant would take issue with the District Court of Appeal's analysis and conclusion that suppression of the evidence was not warranted under these circumstances because the Defendant could not show substantial prejudice. This is based upon the observation by the Court that "the appellant presented no evidence which would undermine the accuracy of the expert's methods and procedures or otherwise make independent analysis indispensable to a fair defense." However, the defense attorney, in arguing the renewed or amended Motion to Suppress blood alcohol test results, represented to the Court that the defense expert had taken a blood alcohol reading which would have shown a level of .08. (R 164-165, 167).

Further, the Defendant's trial attorney anticipated that the State would object to the defense expert witness' testimony on the grounds that the blood had not been refrigerated and the

test results would be subject to claims of unreliability. In anticipation of this and of the Court's ruling in favor of the State, the Defendant offered to withdraw the defense Motion to Suppress if the defense expert was allowed to testify. (R 170-171). The key point here, in terms of prejudice to the Defendant, is that the Defendant had no way of determining by an independent expert whether there were errors or irregularities or any other possible problems in the analysis made by the State's expert witness. There thus could be no basis upon which to compare and to look for possible irregularities or inaccuracies in the manner and method used by the State's expert. It was the State's actions in destroying the evidentiary value of the blood sample that created this problem and prejudice for the Defendant.

This was not a situation in which the chemical analysis was simply to determine the identity of the substance, e.g. cannabis or cocaine or some other controlled substance. In the present case, the analysis was to determine the exact level or percentage of alcohol in a particular blood sample. The sample could have been preserved, another blood sample could have been taken at the same time and preserved. The sample was not necessarily used up in the testing. Further, it was an extremely important item of evidence. The testimony of the percent of blood alcohol created a legal presumption of intoxication which the Defendant, under the circumstances, was effectively powerless to contradict. All of these factors show the very prejudicial nature of the State's action and should

have required the suppression of the test results.

ISSUE III

WHETHER A DEFENDANT MAY BE SENTENCED FOR BOTH DWI MANSLAUGHTER AND VEHICULAR HOMICIDE FOR EFFECTING A SINGLE DEATH.

The Opinion of the First District Court of Appeal on this issue is contrary to a long line of cases, not only decisions of the other District Courts of Appeal, but also previous decisions of the First District Court of Appeal, that have held that when there is but one death, there can be only one conviction for homicide. Stricklen v. State, 332 So.2d 119 (Fla. 1st DCA 1976); Vela v. State, 450 So.2d 305 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984); Muszynski v. State, 392 So.2d 63 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981); Brown v. State, 1984 FLW 1172 (Fla. 2nd DCA May 25, 1984); Platt v. State, 1984 FLW 847 (Fla. 2nd DCA April 11, 1984); Goss v. State, 398 So.2d 998 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981); Johnson v. State, 419 So.2d 1144 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1982); Ubelis v. State, 384 So.2d 1294 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1980); Thomas v. State, 380 So.2d 1299 (Fla. 4th DCA 1980); Brown v. State, 371 So.2d 161 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1979); Miller v. State, 339 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1976); Phillips v. State, 289 So.2d 769 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1974); Dawson v. State, 266 So.2d 116 (Fla. 1st DCA 1972).

The First District Court of Appeal concluded that DWI manslaughter and vehicular homicide were separate and distinct offenses and double jeopardy did not bar conviction and sentence on both. This is contrary to the holding in Vela v. State, supra. The Court in Vela noted that in cases where the

defendant is charged with DWI manslaughter and vehicular homicide, the court is concerned with a "degree crime", i.e. homicide, and that it was "logically impossible to commit more than one degree crime as to one death". 450 So.2d at 308. (Quoting from dissenting opinion of Cowart, J., in Baker v. State, 425 So.2d 36, 60 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982)).

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