IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THOMAS WAYNE HOUSER,

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Petitioner, Thomas Wayne Houser, was the Defendant in the trial court below and the Appellant in the District Court of Appeal. He will be referred to in this Brief as the Petitioner. The Respondent was the State in the trial court and the Appellee in the District Court of Appeal. The Respondent will be referred to as the State in this Brief.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent accepts as accurate Petitioner's Statement of the Case and Facts as recited at pages 2 and 3 of his initial brief.

ISSUE I

WHETHER EVIDENCE OF BLOOD ALCOHOL CONTENT ESTABLISHED BY CHEMICAL ANALYSIS PRIOR TO THE ADOPTION OF HRS RULES RELATING THERETO MAY BE ALLOWED INTO EVIDENCE AT A TRIAL SUBSEQUENT TO THE ADOPTION OF SUCH RULES.

This issue was addressed by the First District Court of Appeal in <u>Drury v. Harding</u>, 443 So.2d 360 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983), holding that these HRS rules are procedural in nature and may be applied to chemical tests administered prior to their adoption. The First District Court of Appeal noted that the Fifth District Court of Appeal had reached a similar result in <u>State v. Fardelman</u>, 9 F.L.W. 1760 (Fla. 5th DCA August 9, 1984). <u>Drury v. Harding</u>, <u>supra</u>, is now pending before this Court on certified question, Case No. 64,727. A copy of the decision in <u>Drury v. Harding</u> is attached hereto in the Appendix to this brief.

A. Retrospective Application of HRS Rules and Regulations Does Not Violate the Statutory Provision.

Effective July 1, 1982, Florida's Driving Under the Influence (DUI) law was revised and amended in a manner which substantially strengthened the statute. The legislative revision challenged by Petitioners was the change in delegation of responsibility for adopting rules and regulations governing the administration of chemical

tests. Previously two state agencies, HRS and the Department of Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles (henceforth DHSMV), shared authority for rulemaking. However the revised statute delegated the function to a single administrative agency, HRS. Also of importance to this cause was a change in the compliance requirement standard. Previously the statute required "strict" compliance to the rules, however after revision, the standard was changed to "substantial" compliance. Section 316.1932(1)(f)9, Fla. Stat. (1982).

Inasmuch as the revised statute became effective
July 1, 1982, Petitioner contends that HRS should have
adopted rules prior to that date. HRS did adopt "emergency
rules" in December 16, 1982, however Petitioners were each
arrested, charged and tested during the interim. Petitioners
claim there were no valid rules as required by Section
316.1932. At the time of their arrest, Petitioners submitted
to chemical tests for blood alcohol content pursuant to
Section 316.1932, Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1982). Each now argues
that since there were no rules in effect between July 1,
1982 and December 16, 1982, the results of tests conducted
under the "old" rules were inadmissible as evidence at
trial.

The DHSMV - HRS regulations in existence in June 1982, prior to statutory revision, are virtually identical to the emergency rules adopted by HRS in December, 1982 and those formally adopted in March, 1983 after a public

hearing. Petitioners, arrested between July and December 1982, were tested pursuant to the same procedures and standards used before July 1, 1982 and after December 16, 1982 (or March, 1983).

Both the circuit and district appellate courts concluded that the rules and regulations adopted on December 16, 1982 were strictly procedural. Drury v.
Harding, at 361. The rules were designed to permit the introduction of test results into evidence without the requirement of expert testimony to formulate a predicate for the test's reliability. Id. citing State v. Bender, 382 So.2d 697 (Fla. 1980). The purpose of the DHSMV - HRS rules, and later the HRS rules, was to "ensure that only reliable evidence is placed before a jury." Drury v.
Harding, at 361. The First District reasoned that the law at the time of trial governed the admissibility of evidence:

This Court finds the rules to be procedural in nature and we approve the decision of the Circuit Court, thereby allowing the test results to be introduced at trial, subject, of course, to a proper predicate for admissibility showing that the rules were complied with.

Id.

Petitioners submit that such a holding overlooks the plain language of 316.1932(1)(f)1 and violated a statutory right to have the chemical test results excluded when the tests were not conducted in conformity with duly

enacted administrative rules and regulations. (PB 8-9)
Petitioner's argument is based upon a literal interpretation of Section 316.1932(1)(f)1, Fla. Stat. Petitioners argue that the phrase "shall have been adopted by the Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services" and the words "shall be adopted after public hearing" require the promulgation of new rules specifying the manner of blood alcohol testing methodology. Petitioners further submit that the instant statutory provision is criminal and must be strictly construed. Petitioners maintain that Florida courts "are not at liberty to ignore" the "plain and unequivocal language" of Section 316.1932(1)(f)1. (PB 8-9).

A review of Chapter 82-155, Laws of Florida, offered in support of Petitioner's supposition, does not reflect a legislative mandate that <u>new</u> rules and regulations be enacted or adopted. (<u>See</u>, Section 316.1932(2)(a), Ch. 82-155 at p. 481).

¹Section 316.1932(1)(f)1 states:

⁽f)1. The tests determining the weight of alcohol in the defendant's blood shall be administered at the direction of the arresting officer substantially in accordance with rules and regulations which shall have been adopted by the Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services. Such rules and regulations shall be adopted after public hearing, shall specify precisely the test or tests which are approved by the Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services for reliability of result and facility of administration, and shall provide an approved method of administration which shall be followed in all such tests given under this section.

Admittedly, criminal statutes are to be strictly construed. <u>Earnest v. State</u>, 351 So.2d 957 (Fla. 1977). However this legal concept has been utilized in cases challenging the ambiguity of a statutory provision. In <u>Earnest v. State</u>, this Court reviewed the phrase "in his possession" referred to in Section 775.087(2), Florida Statutes, providing for a minimum mandatory sentence for possession of a firearm during a commission of certain specified offenses. Justice England, writing for this Court, held the reference did not <u>clearly</u> include <u>vicarious</u> possession. The opinion reiterated the long standing legal principle upon which Petitioners now rely:

The statute being a criminal statute, the rule it must be contrued strictly applies. Nothing is to be regarded as included within it that is not within its letter as well as its spirit; nothing that is not clearly and intelligently described in its very words, as well as manifestly intended by the Legislature, is to be considered as included within its terms. . . .

Earnest at 958-959 (emphases added) quoting State v. Wershow, 343 So.2d 605, 608 (Fla. 1977). See also, Ex Parte Amos, 93 Fla. 5, 112 So. 289 (1927). The State submits that the spirit of the new DUI law and the intent of the Legislature can be demonstrated best by the noticeable change in compliance standards (from "strict" to "substantial" compliance). §316.1932(1)(f)1, Fla. Stat. (1982).

The revisions in the DUI law are indicative of legislative response to public pressure seeking tougher penalties and more strident enforement of existing laws.

<u>See</u>, Evans, <u>One More for the Road</u>, the Florida Bar Journal, October 1982. Public response has prompted the United States Supreme Court to comment:

The situation underlying this case--that of the drunk driver--occurs with tragic frequency on our nation's highways. The carnage caused by drunk drivers is well documented and needs no recitation here. This Court, although not having the daily contact with the problem that the State courts have, has repeatedly lamented the tragedy.

<u>South Dakota v. Neville</u>, 103 S.Ct. _____, 74 L.Ed. 748, 755 (1983). <u>See also Breithaupt v. Abram</u>, 352 U.S. 432, 439 (1957).

Thus while criminal statutes must be strictly construed, it is also presumed that the legislature intended to enact a valid law. Legislative acts are to be construed, if fairly possible, so as to avoid unconstitutionality.

State v. Canova, 94 So.2d 181, 184-185 (Fla. 1957).

Furthermore, this Court has often emphasized the importance of legislative intent:

A statute should be construed to give effect to the evident legislative intent, even if the result seems contradictory to the rules

The new law now requires the administration and analysis of alcohol tests to comply substantially with existing rules that control such testing. If actual testing procedures do not comply with approved techniques, test results may be admitted into evidence provided the differences are not substantial.

 $^{^2}$ This article states at p. 694:

of construction and the strict letter of the statute; the spirit of the law prevails over the letter.

Garner v. Ward, 251 So.2d 252, 256 (Fla. 1971).

Contrary to Petitioner's assertions, courts must not look solely to isolated words and/or phrases in interpreting the meaning of a statute. Instead, as this Court stated in State v. Webb, 398 So.2d 820 (Fla. 1981):

It is a fundamental rule of statutory construction that legislative intent is the polestar by which the court must be guided, and this intent must be given effect even though it may contradict the strict letter of the statute. Furthermore, construction of a statute which would lead to an absurd or unreasonable result or would render a statute purposeless should be avoided.

Id. at 824. The primary guide to statutory interpretation is the determination of the legislative intent. Ormond Beach v. State ex rel Del Marco, 426 So.2d 1029, 1031 (Fla. 5th DCA 1983). The legislative intent behind a statutory enactment must be ascertained and effectuated. American Bakeries Co. v. Haines City, 131 Fla. 790, 180 S. 524, 532 (1938). Ambiguity in meaning or content must yield to the legislative purpose. Ormond Beach at 1031 citing Smith v. City of St. Petersburg, 302 So.2d 756 (Fla. 1974).

It is apparent from review of Chapter 82-155 that the Florida Legislature intended to strengthen the state's DUI statute. The obvious purpose of the changes in the DUI law was to enact harsher penalties for convictions,

to provide for easier administration of procedures, and to relax evidentiary requirements at trial. The legislative action was intended to halt the carnage, the slaughter, the senseless loss of life caused by drunk drivers on the highways within the State of Florida.

See generally, South Dakota v. Neville.

Whenever a repealing act substantially re-enacts the provisions of the act repealed, as did Section 316.1932 of Section 322.261, Florida Statutes, the earlier statute is to be construed in a manner which does not destroy or interrupt its operation. See Forbes v. Board of Health of Escambia County, 27 Fla. 189, 9 S. 446, 447 (Fla. 1891); McKibben v. Mallory, 293 So.2d 48, 53 (Fla. 1974); American Bakeries Co. Haines City at 532. Under, this legal theory the operation of Section 316.192, is deemed to be continuous and uninterrupted. The rules and regulations promulgated pursuant to the DHSMV - HRS enactment, which are substantially similar to the subsequently promulgated rules and regulations of HRS, should apply continuously until replaced.

Respondent submits the retroactive application of the new rules and regulations does not violate the legislative spirit of Section 316.1932 and that neither the decisions of the circuit court nor the First District Court of Appeal departs from essential requirements of law.

Respondent further submits that the adoption of emergency rules by HRS prior to a public hearing does not lend credibility to Petitioner's argument. The argument

concerning the motivation of HRS in enacting rules of an "emergency" nature was not raised by Petitioner's prior to review by the First District.

B. Retrospective Application of HRS
Rules and Regulations Does Not
Violate State and Federal Proscriptions Against Ex Post Facto Laws.

Petitioners have not addressed the retroactive application argument previously raised and rejected in these cases. However it is clear that rules and regulations of an administrative agency, when made under the power conferred by statue, carry with them the full force and effect of that statute. Florida Livestock Board v. W. G. Gladden, 76 So.2d 291 (Fla. 1954); Bystrom v. Equitable Life Assurance Society of the United States, 416 So.2d 1133, 1142 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982). The same general rules of statutory construction applicable to statutes also apply to administrative rules. See, State v. Atlantic Coast Line R. Co., 47 S. 969 (Fla. 1908).

Florida courts have repeatedly held that statutory changes in procedure are applicable to pending cases.

Batch v. State, 405 So.2d 302 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981); Harris
v. State, 400 So.2d 819 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981). In Love v.

Jacobsen, 390 So.2d 782 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980), the Third
District stated:

. . . [P]rocedural rights granted by a statute may be applied retroactively because no vested rights in any mode of procedure exist. Ex Parte Collett, 337 U.S. 55, 93 L.Ed.2d 1207 (1949). If the statute does not affect vested rights or create new obligations, it may be applied retroactively.

Id. at 783 (emphasis added).

In <u>Harris v. State</u>, the question presented was whether an amended Rule of Criminal Procedure could be applied to a pending case when the effective date of the amendment occurred after the date of the defendant's arrest. The Fifth District held the amended rule could be applied to the pending case.

While statutory changes in the law are normally presumed to apply prospectively, procedural changes are to be applied to pending cases.

Id. at 820.

In <u>Dobbert v. Florida</u>, 432 U.S. 282, 53 L.Ed.2d 344, 97 S.Ct. 2290 (1977), the newly enacted death penalty statute was held applicable to Dobbert's trial even though the statute was not in effect at the time the crimes were committed. On appeal, Dobbert alleged the retroactive application of the new statute violated his constitutional protection against ex post facto application of laws. In affirming the conviction, the United States Supreme Court held that the changes in Florida's death penalty statute, made operative subsequent to Dobbert's crime but before his trial date, were merely procedural. The changes did not affect the quantum of punishment and therefore could be applied to Dobbert's pending case.

The current Rules 10 D-42.21 to D-42.32 govern the method of conducting chemical breath tests. The rules dictate operational and maintenance procedures required for breath testing instruments and test procedures, enumerate training and permit requirements for test operators and instructors, and further clarify the approved testing methods. The rules are entirely procedural and under the aforementioned caselaw, clearly apply to cases pending at the time of their formal adoption.

The issue is <u>not</u> whether such rules existed at the time of the Petitioner's arrest. As long as the rules are in effect at the time of trial, no possible prejudice could exist in rules of procedure. At trial, the State should be expected to show that the intoxilyzer maintenance and testing procedures were performed in accordance with the newly adopted HRS Rules, which were effective as of March 8, 1983. Accord, Drury v. Harding at 361.

The fact that Section 316.1932(1)(f)1 Fla. Stat., does not explicitly provide for retroactive application of any new rules promulgated does not preclude application of the March 8, 1983, rules to Petitioner's pending case. Florida law permits retroactive application even in the absence of a legislative directive. Love v. Jacobsen at 783.

Respondent emphasizes that Petitioners have not been prejudiced by retrospective application of the newly adopted HRS rules. As previously stated the DHSMV - HRS rules in effect prior to the July 1, 1982 amendment, the Emergency Rules effective December 16, 1982, and the current HRS rules effective March 8, 1983, are nearly identical. Petitioners have failed to establish how they were prejudiced by application of these consistent procedureal rules. The new rules are nothing more than a ratification of the old rules with respect to the intoxilyzer test. Under this set of facts, the justification for retroactive application is even more compelling.

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